2007

Jones and Trevor Marketing, Inc. v. Financial
Development Services, Inc., Jeremy Warburton,
John Neubauer, Jonathan L. Lowry, Nathan
Kinsella, Esbex.com, Inc. : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This Court's jurisdiction rests upon Utah Code Annotated Section 78-2a-3(2)(j).

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

Did the trial court err in granting Defendants/Appellees Jonathan L. Lowry and Nathan Kinsella's Motion for Summary Judgment, holding that Appellees had no personal liability, where there were genuine issues of fact whether Appellees acted as the alter egos of the corporations and whether Appellees committed any torts in connection with the contract?

Standard of Review. De novo. By definition, "a district court does not resolve issues of fact at summary judgment," therefore, this Court "consider[s] the record as a whole and review[s] the district court's grant of summary judgment de novo, reciting all facts and fair inferences drawn from the record in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party." *Poteet v. White*, 2006 UT 63, ¶7, 147 P.3d 439.

Preservation for Appeal. R. at 1292-1322, 1640-1659.

CONSTITUTIONAL OR STATUTORY PROVISIONS

There is no constitutional or statutory provision material to this appeal.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Procedural History

Plaintiff/Appellant Jones & Trevor Marketing (“J&T”) filed this case on August 29, 2002. (R. 33-49.) On June 17, 2004, J&T filed an amended complaint, including Defendants/Appellees Jonathan L. Lowry and Nathan Kinsella (“Lowry and Kinsella”) as defendants and alleging against them theft, fraudulent misrepresentation, constructive fraud, fraudulent non-disclosure, and intentional interference with business relations. (R. 1021-44.)

Lowry and Kinsella filed a joint motion for summary judgment on or about May 20, 2005. (R. 1198-1200.) After hearing oral argument on September 22, 2005 and allowing the parties to redepose John Neubauer, the district court granted the motion on February 1, 2006, holding that the corporate veil could not be pierced under the alter ego doctrine because there was insufficient evidence that Lowry and Kinsella “acted in their personal capacity or took funds improperly.” (R. 1699.) The Honorable Derek P. Pullan signed the order granting the motion on March 31, 2006. (R. 2019-22.) J&T now appeals that decision.¹

Statement of Facts

This case involves an appeal from a grant of summary judgment as to the personal liability of two of the defendants, Lowry and Kinsella.

¹ Eventually, on September 17, 2007, a final judgment, in the form of a default judgment, was entered against Defendants Financial Development Services, Inc. and Esbex.com, Inc. (R. 2215-17.)

The Plaintiff/Appellant, Jones & Trevor Marketing, Inc., is a Nevada corporation engaged in the sale of training courses developed by its owner and principal, Ted Thomas. (R. 1293.) Financial Development Services, Inc., (“FDS”) one of the corporate defendants, was a Utah corporation engaged in sales and telemarketing activities. (R. 1293.) FDS was dissolved on November 3, 2004. (R. 1293.) Esbex.com, Inc., (“Esbex”) the other corporate defendant, was originally a dba of FDS and was eventually incorporated as a wholly owned subsidiary of FDS. (R. 1294-95.) Esbex was dissolved on November 29, 2004. (R. 1295.) At all relevant times, Lowry and Kinsella were the sole shareholders and directors of FDS and Esbex. (R. 1296, 1300.) Though FDS and Esbex were legally distinct entities, in practice, Lowry and Kinsella operated FDS and Esbex as a single entity. (R. 1294-95.)

On or about January 31, 2002, J&T entered into a Sales and Marketing Agreement with FDS. (R. 1299.) Under the agreement, J&T provided to FDS training courses and the names, addresses, and phone numbers of sales leads. (R. 1294.) In exchange, FDS was to market and sell J&T’s training courses and provide coaching services, earning a commission of 60% of the gross sales. (R. 1023, 1299.) Esbex, though not in privity of contract with J&T, provided coaching services to purchasers of the J&T courses. (R. 1295.) After the relationship between the parties soured, J&T brought suit against FDS and Esbex and eventually against Lowry and Kinsella personally. (R. 33-49, 1021-44.)

In its opposition and supplemental opposition to Lowry and Kinsella’s motion for summary judgment, J&T presented the following evidence regarding Lowry and

Kinsella's direction and use of FDS and Esbex with regard to the J&T contract.

- Lowry and Kinsella were, at all times relevant to this appeal, the sole shareholders, officers, and directors of FDS and Esbex. (R. 1296, 1300.)
- Lowry and Kinsella ran FDS and Esbex as if the two corporations were one entity. (R. 1294-95.)
- Lowry and Kinsella were both aware and in control of all of the financial transactions that took place at FDS and Esbex. (R. 1301, 1305, 1642-43.)
- Lowry and Kinsella took money from the businesses whenever they wanted, regardless of the other commitments or responsibilities of the corporations. (R. 1300-02.)
- When customers returned J&T products, Lowry and Kinsella kept the refund from J&T and, instead of sending the product back to J&T, resold the product to new customers. (R. 1300, 1303-04, 1642.)
- Lowry and Kinsella knew that they were taking money earmarked for J&T customer refunds. (R. 1301, 1643-44.)
- Lowry and Kinsella repeatedly hid payments from J&T. (R. 1300-04.)
- Lowry and Kinsella treated customers who purchased J&T products poorly by failing to appropriately process refunds, by using "hard sell" tactics, and by charging unauthorized amounts to the customers' accounts. (R. 1303-05.)
- After FDS terminated the agreement with J&T, Lowry and Kinsella made

the decision to continue selling coaching, to instruct their employees not tell J&T about it, and to keep the money derived from the sales. (R. 1300, 1302, 1641-42.)

- Lowry and Kinsella took thousands of dollars of company proceeds for personal use, such as hunting trips, without proper documentation or accounting. (R. 1301, 1643.)
- Kinsella took money from FSD without telling Lowry. (R. 1302, 1644-45.)
- Lowry and Kinsella took money from FDS and Esbex to fund their personal interests, in disregard of the money needed to run the corporations. (R. 1300-03, 1642-46.)

Despite the above evidence, the trial court held that there was no genuine issue of fact as to whether Lowry and Kinsella were the alter egos of the corporations or whether Lowry and Kinsella committed torts in connection with the contract with J&T. J&T appeals that decision.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This case involves questions of fact regarding the personal liability of two corporations' owners and directors. Though the corporate shield is an important economic tool, "to permit an agent of a corporation, in carrying on its business, to inflict wrong and injuries upon others, and then shield himself from liability behind his vicarious character, would often both sanction and encourage the perpetration of flagrant and wanton injuries by agents of insolvent and irresponsible corporations." *Armed Forces Ins. Exch. v. Harrison*, 2003 UT 14, ¶20, 70 P.3d 35 (quoting *Snowden v. Taggart*, 17 P.2d 305, 307 (Colo. 1932)). Observing the corporate shield and precluding the personal liability of the Appellees, Lowry and Kinsella, would sanction and encourage the perpetration of flagrant and wanton injuries by agents of insolvent and irresponsible corporations.

In its opposition to Lowry and Kinsella's motion for summary judgment, J&T presented evidence that Lowry and Kinsella were the alter egos of the two corporations. There is evidence that Lowry and Kinsella disregarded corporate formalities and used the corporations to fund their personal interests, regardless of the necessities and obligations of the corporation. Further, there is evidence that observing the corporate structure in this case would sanction the fraud committed by Lowry and Kinsella and would result in an unjust, inequitable result. J&T also presented evidence that Lowry and Kinsella personally participated in several torts in connection with the performance of the contract at issue.

J&T should have had the opportunity to present all of the evidence to a factfinder to resolve the question of whether Lowry and Kinsella were personally liable for the torts committed. This Court should therefore reverse the grant of summary judgment and remand this case back to the trial court for further proceedings.

ARGUMENT

The trial court in this case incorrectly granted Lowry and Kinsella's motion for summary judgment. Under the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, a court may not grant summary judgment unless the moving party establishes "[1] that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and [2] that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law." Utah R. Civ. P. 56(c).

When a court addresses a motion for summary judgment, the court's function is not to weigh disputed evidence or to decide which side has the stronger case. Rather, the court's "sole inquiry should be whether material issues of fact exist." *Draper City v. Est. of Bernardo*, 888 P.2d 1097, 1100 (Utah 1995). On a motion for summary judgment, the nonmoving party is not required to "prove" its case in order to defeat the motion. Instead, the nonmoving party is only required to submit evidence "sufficient to raise a genuine issue of fact." *Kleinert v. Kimball Elevator Co.*, 854 P.2d 1025, 1028 (Utah Ct. App. 1993). In addition, if there is "any doubt or uncertainty concerning questions of fact, the doubt should be resolved in favor of the opposing party [and] the court must evaluate all the evidence and all reasonable inferences fairly drawn from the evidence in a light most favorable to the party opposing summary judgment." *Bowen v. Riverton City*, 656 P.2d 434, 436 (Utah 1982).

This Court reviews a trial court's grant of summary judgment de novo, *Poteet v. White*, 2006 UT 63 at ¶7, and should therefore reverse the trial court's decision because numerous questions of fact existed with regard to both J&T's alter ego theory and J&T's

tort allegations. J&T presented sufficient evidence to the trial court to prevent the trial court from discarding its alter ego theory of liability.

First, J&T presented evidence that Lowry and Kinsella failed to observe corporate formalities, that they freely took money from the corporations accounts without proper accounting, and that they used the businesses for personal advantage. Further, it is clear from the facts that failing to allow J&T to proceed under its alter ego theory would work a substantial injustice on J&T. Both FDS and Esbex were undercapitalized because of the actions of Lowry and Kinsella. Refusing to pierce the corporate veil in this case would sanction their fraud and deprive J&T of a remedy.

Second, the trial court should not have granted summary judgment to Lowry and Kinsella because personal liability on a corporate contract lies where officers or directors commit torts in the process of performing on the contract. J&T presented sufficient issues of facts as to whether Lowry and Kinsella acted tortiously in carrying out the contract at issue. Thus, this Court should reverse the grant of summary judgment and remand this case back to the trial court for resolution of the issues of fact.

I. SUMMARY JUDGMENT WAS INAPPROPRIATE BECAUSE GENUINE ISSUES OF FACT EXISTED WHETHER LOWRY AND KINSELLA WERE THE ALTER EGOS OF THE CORPORATIONS.

The trial court incorrectly found that there were no issues of material fact as to whether Lowry and Kinsella were the alter egos of FDS and/or Esbex. In order to successfully oppose a motion for summary judgment, a plaintiff need not prove its alter ego theory. A plaintiff must merely show facts in controversy. *Salt Lake City Corp. v.*

James Constructors, Inc., 761 P.2d 42, 47 (Utah Ct. App. 1988).

Under Utah law, a court will pierce the corporate veil and hold individuals liable under the equitable alter ego doctrine where

(1) there [is] such unity of interest and ownership that the separate personalities of the corporation and the individual no longer exist, viz., the corporation is, in fact, the alter ego of one or a few individuals; and (2) the observance of the corporate form would sanction a fraud, promote injustice, or an inequitable result would follow.

Norman v. Murray First Thrift & Loan Co., 596 P.2d 1028, 1030 (Utah 1979). One of the defining characteristics of the alter ego doctrine is that “it is an equitable doctrine requiring that each case be determined upon its peculiar facts.” *See James Constructors*, 761 P.2d at 47 (citing *Nat’l Bond Fin. Co. v. Gen. Motors Corp.*, 341 F.2d 1022, 1023 (8th Cir. 1965)).

In this case, J&T presented enough disputed facts to prevent the district court from properly granting Lowry and Kinsella’s motion for summary judgment as to J&T’s alter ego theory. First, there is a unity of interest and ownership between the corporations, FDS and Esbex, and Lowry and Kinsella. Lowry and Kinsella repeatedly ignored corporate formalities and treated the corporations as personal banks. Second, allowing Lowry and Kinsella to hide behind the corporate shields in this case would work an injustice on J&T and sanction the fraud committed by Lowry and Kinsella.

A. There Is a Unity of Interest and Ownership Between FDS / Esbex and Lowry / Kinsella.

The trial court incorrectly found that there was no evidence, and therefore no issue of fact, that Lowry and Kinsella used the corporations inappropriately. In order to

determine whether the individual and the corporate form have merged, Utah courts generally consider the following significant, if not conclusive, factors:

(1) undercapitalization of a one-man corporation; (2) failure to observe corporate formalities; (3) non-payment of dividends; (4) siphoning of corporate funds by the dominant stockholder; (5) non-functioning of other officers or directors; (6) absence of corporate records; (7) the use of the corporation as a façade for operations of the dominant stockholder or stockholders; and (8) the use of the corporate entity in promoting injustice or fraud.

Colman v. Colman, 743 P.2d 782, 786 (Utah Ct. App. 1987) (citing *Ramsey v. Adams*, 603 P.2d 1025, 1028 (Kan. Ct. App. 1979); *Amoco Chems. Corp. v. Bach*, 567 P.2d 1337, 1341-42 (Kan. 1977)). In determining whether this “formalities” prong of the alter ego doctrine is met, courts “look[] through form to substance and ha[ve] often disregarded the corporate form when it was fiction in fact and deed and was merely serving the personal use and convenience of the owner.” *Colman*, 743 P.2d at 786 (quoting *Lyons v. Lyons*, 340 So. 2d 450, 451 (Ala. Civ. App. 1976)).

In considering the above factors, some factors tend to weigh more heavily in favor of piercing the corporate veil. In *Colman*, the court found that many of the above factors were met and commented particularly on the seventh, façade, factor: “[f]ailure to distinguish between corporate and personal property, the use of corporate funds to pay personal expenses without proper accounting, and failure to maintain complete corporate and financial records are looked upon with extreme disfavour.” *Id.* at 786 n.3 (citing *Roylex, Inc. v. Langson Bros. Constr. Co.*, 585 S.W.2d 768, 772 (Tex. Civ. App. 1979)). The *James Constructors* court, too, placed emphasis on the “extent to which the corporate

formalities . . . are observed.” *James Constructors*, 761 P.2d at 47.

Courts frequently disregard the corporate form where only a few of the above elements are present in the case. In *Lyons*, the court disregarded the corporate form and held a shareholder personally liable for, among other things, commingling corporate funds with his own and failing to keep proper corporate records. *Lyons*, 340 So. 2d at 451.

In this case, Lowry and Kinsella completely disregarded the corporate form when it suited their needs. Though FDS and Esbex were struggling to meet their financial responsibilities, Lowry and Kinsella often took money from the corporations for their personal use. (R. 1295, 1300-03, 1642-46.) For example, the former CFO of FDS and the accountant for both entities, John Neubauer, testified that “[i]f [Lowry and Kinsella] needed money, they took it regardless of what the rest of the circumstances were” and that Lowry and Kinsella often took “\$5,000 or 10,000 extra out of the company for a hunting trip or some reason.” (R. 1301, 1642-43.) Mr. Neubauer further testified that Lowry and Kinsella used the corporations “to fund all their personal interests” and that they did so “in spite of the fact that there were significant obligations that had already been incurred.” (R. 1301-02, 1646.)

J&T presented the above evidence to the trial court in support of its alter ego theory. Standing alone, the above evidence is sufficient to raise a question of fact as to whether Lowry and Kinsella disregarded corporate formalities to the extent that there was a unity of interest and ownership to satisfy the first prong of the alter ego doctrine. Even

if the evidence were not conclusive, the issues presented should have proceeded to trial.

B. The Observance of the Corporate Forms of FDS and Esbex Would Sanction Fraud, and an Unjust, Inequitable Result Would Follow.

The trial court incorrectly failed to consider whether the observance of the corporate form in this case would work an injustice or sanction fraud. There is no indication in the trial court's ruling that the trial court considered the prong prior to granting Lowry and Kinsella's motion for summary judgment. (R. 1690-1703.) For this second "fairness" prong of the alter ego doctrine, a plaintiff need not "prove actual fraud, but must only show that failure to pierce the corporate veil would result in an injustice." *Colman*, 743 P.2d at 786 (citing *United States v. Healthwin-Midtown Convalescent Hosp. & Rehab. Ctr. Inc.*, 511 F. Supp 416, 420 (D. Cal. 1981)).

In *Colman*, the court found that use of the corporate entity in that case would result in an injustice because it would convert marital assets into untouchable corporate assets and therefore deprive the wife of a remedy. *Id.* at 788. In *Salt Lake City Corp. v. James Constructors, Inc.*, the court held that genuine issues of fact existed as to whether the alter ego doctrine was satisfied and noted that observance of the corporate shield in that case was unfair and unjust because the corporation was undercapitalized:

It is coming to be recognized as the policy of the law that shareholders should in good faith put at the risk of the business unencumbered capital reasonably adequate for its prospective liabilities. If the capital is illusory or trifling compared with the business to be done and the risks of loss, this is a ground for denying the separate entity privilege.

James Constructors, 761 P.2d at 47 (quoting David Barber, *Piercing the Corporate Veil*, 17 Willamette L. Rev. 371, 386 (1981) (quoting Henry W. Ballantine, *Ballantine on*

Corporations 303 (1946))).

In this case, there was sufficient evidence to demonstrate that allowing Lowry and Kinsella to hide behind the corporate shield would result in an injustice to Plaintiff. Observing the corporate form in this case would sanction the fraud committed by both Lowry and Kinsella. Both FDS and Esbex were clearly undercapitalized, as demonstrated by the short life spans of the two entities, the admission that the two entities were insolvent, and Lowry and Kinsella's penchant for taking money from the corporation without first satisfying the corporations' financial obligations. (R. 1300-04.) Further, since FDS and Esbex were dissolved several years ago, Plaintiff has no other recourse for the wrongs he suffered as a result of the actions of Lowry and Kinsella. In any event, there was sufficient evidence of potential injustice, combined with the above failure to observe corporate formalities, to prevent the court from granting Lowry and Kinsella's motion for summary judgment.

II. SUMMARY JUDGMENT WAS INAPPROPRIATE BECAUSE ISSUES OF FACT EXISTED WHETHER LOWRY & KINSELA COMITTED FRAUD OR OTHER TORTS IN CONNECTION WITH THE CONTRACT.

The trial court incorrectly held that no personal liability could attach to Lowry and Kinsella for the torts they allegedly committed. Under Utah law, a director or officer may have personal liability under a corporation's contract if he "assumed personal liability, acted in bad faith or committed a tort in connection with the performance of the contract." *Reedeker v. Salsibury*, 952 P.2d 577, 582 (Utah Ct. App. 1998) (quoting *Mills v. Polar Molecular Corp.*, 12 F.3d 1170, 1177 (2d Cir. 1993)). This kind of personal liability is

unrelated to piercing the corporate veil: “holding an officer or director personally liable for corporate torts in which they participate is distinct from the piercing the veil doctrine.” *d’Elia v. Rice Dev., Inc.*, 2006 UT App 416, ¶39, 147 P.3d 515. In *d’Elia*, the court found that the alter ego did not apply, but held that personal liability attached to the defendant where he participated in tortuous activities. *Id.* at ¶¶34, 44-45.

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