2007

Jones & Trevor Marketing, Inc. v. Financial
Development Services, Inc., Jeremy Warburton,
John Neubauer, Jonathon L. Lowry, Nathan
Kinsella, and Esbex.com, Inc. : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

J&T Marketing specifically appeals an order entered by the trial court on March 21, 2006, partially granting Lowry and Kinsella's motion for summary judgment. This order was not final, having been granted only in part, and leaves at issue a portion of one of J&T Marketing's causes of action against Lowry. Given the fact that there is an unadjudicated issue still pending before the trial court, this Court does not have jurisdiction over the appeal. Therefore, this Court only has the authority to dismiss the appeal for lack of jurisdiction.

If, however, this Court determines that it can exercise jurisdiction over J&T Marketing's appeal, then it should uphold the trial court's decision to grant Lowry and Kinsella's motion for summary judgment. On a motion for summary judgment, "the non-moving party has an obligation to come forward with sufficient proof to show that the non-moving party is entitled to proceed to trial." *In re Discipline of Sonnenreich*, 2004 UT 3, ¶ 41, 86 P.3d 712. In the matter before this Court, J&T Marketing failed to present evidence establishing any genuine issues of material fact existed regarding J&T Marketing's alter ego theory claims. The alter ego theory only arises if two factors are shown: (1) that there is a unity of interest or ownership between the individual and the corporation, and (2) that maintaining the corporate form would sanction fraud, promote

injustice or create an inequitable result. *See Smith v. Grand Canyon Expeditions Co.*, 2003 UT 57, ¶ 36, 84P.3d 1154. J&T Marketing failed to present evidence establishing genuine issues of material fact regarding either of these two prongs. In addition, J&T Marketing failed to present genuine issues of fact on every element of its claims for personal liability against Lowry and Kinsella. On the other hand, the undisputed evidence demonstrates that neither Lowry nor Kinsella should be held personally liable for any of J&T Marketing's alleged injuries arising out of its contractual agreement with FDS. Considering the submissions before it, the trial court correctly ruled that there were no material issues of fact on the issue of summary judgment and correctly granted Lowry and Kinsella summary judgment as a matter of law.

Therefore, this Court should uphold the trial court's decision to grant summary judgment to Lowry and Kinsella or dismiss the appeal for lack of jurisdiction.

ARGUMENT

I. THE COURT OF APPEALS DOES NOT HAVE JURISDICTION TO HEAR J&T MARKETING'S APPEAL

Rule 54(b) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure provides a procedure for the trial court to certify as final a judgment that addresses "fewer than all of the claims or parties." A judgment that "adjudicates fewer than all the claims or the rights and liabilities of fewer than all the parties" and that is not certified as final by the trial court does "not terminate the action as to any of the claims or parties," Utah R. Civ. Pro. 54(b), and is not final for purposes of appeal. "A trial court's granting of a motion for summary judgment which does not dispose of all claims of all parties, and which has not been certified as a

final judgment pursuant to Rule 54(b) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, is not a final judgment for purposes of appellate jurisdiction.” *Sneddon v. Graham*, 821 P.2d 1185, 1189 (Utah Ct. App. 1991).

A. The Trial Court’s Order on Defendants Lowry’s and Kinsella’s Motion for Summary Judgment is not Final for Purposes of Appeal

Appellate courts “[d]o not have jurisdiction over an appeal unless it is taken from a final judgment, or qualifies for an exception to the final judgment rule.” *Loffredo v. Holt*, 2001 UT 97, ¶ 10, 37 P.3d 1070. J&T Marketing, in its Docketing Statement, informed this Court that after reviewing the submissions on Appellees’ Motion for Summary Judgment “[t]he District Court then concluded that *none* of Appellant’s claims could be sustained against Lowry and Kinsella personally and granted Lowry and Kinsella’s motion for summary judgment.” *Docketing Statement* at 3-4 (emphasis added). (The *Docketing Statement* is included in the Addendum hereto at Tab D.) However, J&T Marketing correctly noted in a footnote that summary judgment was granted “as to every claim against Lowry and Kinsella personally, *with the exception of the fraudulent misrepresentation claim against Lowry.*” *Id.* at 4 n.1 (emphasis added). Despite its recognition that trial court’s Order is not final, *i.e.*, it did not finally adjudicate all claims, J&T Marketing nevertheless asserts that this Court has jurisdiction over the appeal.

“[T]o be considered a final order, the trial court’s decision must dispose of the claims of all parties.” *Loffredo*, 2001 UT 97 at ¶ 12. “An order that does not wholly dispose of a claim or a party is not final, and therefore not appealable.” *Sneddon*, 821 P.2d at 1189 (Utah Ct. App. 1991). By noting in its Docketing Statement that the

summary judgment order did not dispose of one of its claims, J&T Marketing admits that the trial court's summary judgment order did not wholly dispose of its claims against Lowry and Kinsella and the order was therefore not final for purpose of appeal. "Where the final judgment rule is not satisfied, the proper remedy for this court is dismissal." *Loffredo*, 2001 UT 97 at ¶ 11.

B. J&T Marketing's Appeal does Not Qualify for an Exception to the Final Judgment Rule

Were J&T Marketing to assert that its appeal qualifies for an exception to the final judgment rule, its argument would fail. This Court could assert jurisdiction over the trial court's non-final order granting Appellees' motion for summary judgment if the appeal qualifies for one of three special exceptions to the final judgment rule. *See id.* at ¶15. A non-final judgment may be appealed (1) "if the three requirements of rule 54(b) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure have been satisfied;" (2) if "a parties obtains [the appellate court's] permission under rule 5 of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure;" or (3) "if an appeal is permitted by statute." *Id.*

J&T Marketing did not comply with the procedures specified for certification under rule 54(b) and none of the three requirements of Rule 54(b) has been satisfied⁵; Even if Appellant had complied with Rule 54(b), the period for filing an appeal expired

⁵ "First, there must be multiple claims for relief or multiple parties to the action. Second, the judgment appealed from must have been entered on an order that would be appealable but for the fact that other claims or parties remain in the action. Third, the trial court, in its discretion, must make a determination that "there is no just reason for delay" of the appeal." *Pate v. Marathon Steel Co.*, 692 P.2d 765, 767 (Utah 1984); *see also* Utah R. Civ. Pro. 54(b). The trial court never made, nor was it ever asked to make, the required findings to certify the Order as final.

long before the appeal was filed since the order J&T Marketing has appealed from was entered on March 21, 2006, and the Notice of Appeal was not filed until October 9, 2007, nearly a year and a half later. Moreover, J&T Marketing's appeal fails to satisfy the requirements of Rule 5. Rule 5 requires a petition for permission to appeal to be filed within twenty days "after the entry of the order of the trial court." Utah R. App. Pro. 5(a). J&T Marketing has filed no such petition. Finally, J&T Marketing has pointed to no applicable statute that would allow it to appeal the trial court's non-final Order entered on March 21, 2006.

Though Lowry and Kinsella believe that the trial court correctly awarded summary judgment in their favor and that their arguments on the merits of the appeal, which follow, would result in an affirmance by this Court, they note that "acquiescence of the parties is insufficient to confer jurisdiction and that a lack of jurisdiction can be raised at any time by either party or by the court." *Olson v. Salt Lake City Sch. Dist.*, 724 P.2d 960, 964 (Utah 1986). As this Court is without jurisdiction to hear J&T Marketing's appeal, it appears that the only remaining available action to this Court is dismissal.

II. THIS COURT SHOULD UPHOLD THE TRIAL COURT'S GRANT OF SUMMARY JUDGMENT IN FAVOR OF LOWRY AND KINSELLA BECAUSE THERE WERE NO GENUINE ISSUES OF MATERIAL FACT

A. Under the Applicable Standard of Review, the Trial Court Correctly Granted Summary Judgment on J&T Marketing's Claims

Should this court determine that it has jurisdiction, Lowry and Kinsella assert that this Court should affirm the trial court's ruling on their summary judgment motion and deny the appeal. Rule 56 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure states that summary

judgment may be obtained “if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issues as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law.” Utah R. Civ. Pro. 56(c). However, Utah courts have held that

[o]nce the allegations in a complaint are challenged, the non-moving party has an obligation to come forward *with sufficient proof to show that the non-moving party is entitled to proceed to trial*. It is not enough to rest on allegations alone, *particularly when the parties have had an opportunity for discovery*.

In re Discipline of Sonnenreich, 2004 UT 3, ¶ 41, 86 P.3d 712 (emphasis added).

J&T Marketing erroneously urges this Court to conduct a single inquiry into whether there are disputes of material facts and cites to the 1995 case of *Draper City v. Estate of Bernardo*, 888 P.2d 1097 (Utah 1995), for the proposition that it is not required to prove all the elements of its claims against Lowry and Kinsella. The Utah Supreme Court held in *Gerbich v. Numed Inc.*, 1999 UT 37, ¶ 12, 977 P.2d 1205, *Jensen v. IHC Hosps., Inc.*, 944 P.2d 327, 339 (Utah 1997), and *Sonnenreich*, 2004 UT 3 at ¶ 41, that while the moving party must show that there is no material issue of fact, “in opposing a motion for summary judgment, the plaintiff still has the ultimate burden of proving all the elements of his or her cause of action.” *Numed Inc.*, 1999 UT 37 at ¶ 12 (quoting *Jensen*, 944 P.2d at 339); *accord Sonnenreich*, 2004 UT 3 at ¶41.

Appellees acknowledge that “a trial court should not weigh disputed evidence, and its sole inquiry should be whether material issues of fact exist.” *Estate of Bernardo*, 888 P.2d at 1100. However, when contending against a motion for summary judgment, a plaintiff “has the obligation to come forward with sufficient proof to show that [it is]

entitled to proceed to trial.” *Numed, Inc.*, 1999 UT 37 at ¶ 12. Evidence is sufficient when it raises “a genuine issue of fact.” *Klienert v. Kimball Elevator Co.*, 854 P.2d 1025, 1028 (Utah Ct. App. 1993). When the plaintiff as the non-moving party does not submit evidence to support an element of its claim, the trial court should grant summary judgment on that claim.

Utah court decisions on this standard are consistent with United States Supreme Court decisions interpreting the federal equivalent of Utah’s Rule 56.

When a party “fails to make a showing sufficient to establish the existence of an element essential to that party’s case . . . there can be ‘no genuine issue as to any material fact,’ since a complete failure of proof concerning an essential element of the nonmoving party’s case necessarily renders all other facts immaterial.” Thus, the standard for summary judgment “mirrors the standard for a directed verdict,” in that a moving party, who has otherwise made its case, is entitled to judgment as a matter of law where the “nonmoving party has failed to make a sufficient showing on an essential element of her case with respect to which she has the burden of proof.”

Burns v. Cannondale Bicycle Co., 876 P.2d 415, 419-20 (Utah Ct. App. 1994) (quoting *Celotex Corp. v. Catrett*, 477 U.S. 317, 322-23 (1986) (quoting Fed. R. Civ. Pro. 56(c) and *Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc.*, 477 U.S. 242, 250 (1986))).

B. The Trial Court Correctly Granted Summary Judgment on J&T Marketing’s Alter Ego Claims

The trial court correctly granted summary judgment to Lowry and Kinsella on J&T Marketing’s alter ego theory because there were no genuine issues of material fact making summary judgment appropriate as a matter of law. In Utah “a corporation is regarded as a legal entity, separate and apart from its stockholders.” *Dockstader v. Walker*, 510 P.2d 526, 528 (Utah 1973); accord *Salt Lake City Corp. v. James*

Constructors, Inc., 761 P.2d 42, 46 (Utah Ct. App. 1988). “In so immunizing corporate directors from personal liability, the law has proceeded on the theory that in so acting they are but the agents of the corporation and that the breach is that of the corporation, and hence it alone is answerable therefore [sic].” *Reedeker v. Salisbury*, 952 P.2d 577, 582 (Utah Ct. App. 1998) (quotations and citations omitted). Utah Courts “have stated that ‘[c]ourts must balance piercing and insulating policies and [should] only reluctantly and cautiously pierce the corporate veil.’” *Schafir v. Harrigan*, 879 P.2d 1384, 1389 (Utah Ct. App. 1994) (quoting *Salt Lake City Corp. v. James Constructors, Inc.*, 761 P.2d 42, 46 (Utah Ct. App. 1988)).

Two elements must exist for a court to pierce the corporate veil. “The corporate form may be disregarded when there is ‘such unity of interest and ownership that the separate personalities of the corporation and the individual no longer exist . . . and the observance of the corporate form would sanction a fraud, promote injustice, or an inequitable result would follow.’” *Smith v. Grand Canyon Expeditions Co.*, 2003 UT 57, ¶ 36, 84 P.3d 1154 (quoting *Norman v. Murray First Thrift & Loan Co.*, 596 P.2d 1028, 1030 (Utah 1979)). J&T Marketing claims that it presented “enough disputed facts” to overcome Lowry and Kinsella’s motion for summary judgment. *Brief of Appellant* at 12. The evidence, or rather lack thereof, before the trial court suggests otherwise.

1. J&T Marketing Did Not Provide Evidence to Support the Unity of Interest Prong of the Alter Ego Theory

J&T Marketing’s claims boil down to a contract dispute between itself and FDS, and all of J&T Marketing’s allegations regarding fraud and misrepresentation rest solely

on its unilateral interpretation of the contract terms. In Utah, factors have been identified that guide a determination of whether the unity-of-interest prong has been violated. These factors include the following:

(1) undercapitalization of a one-man corporation; (2) failure to observe corporate formalities; (3) nonpayment of dividends; (4) siphoning of corporate funds by the dominant stockholder; (5) nonfunctioning of other officers or directors; (6) absence of corporate records; (7) the use of the corporation as a facade for operations of the dominant stockholder or stockholders; and (8) the use of the corporate entity in promoting injustice or fraud.

Colman v. Colman, 743 P.2d 782, 786 (Utah Ct. App. 1987).

As J&T Marketing noted in its brief, Utah courts have stated that “[f]ailure to distinguish between corporate and personal property, the use of corporate funds to pay personal expenses without proper accounting, and failure to maintain complete corporate and financial records are looked upon with extreme disfavor.” *Colman*, 743 P.2d at 786 n.

3. J&T Marketing has presented no evidence that Lowry or Kinsella commingled corporate funds with their own. Instead, J&T Marketing points to the evidence that Lowry and Kinsella took money from the corporation for their personal use. *See Brief of Appellee* at 14.⁶ J&T Marketing suggests that the mere fact that Lowry and Kinsella were distributed money out of the corporation, standing alone, raises questions of fact concerning the unity of interest prong of the alter ego theory. *See id.* However, J&T

⁶ J&T Marketing’s citations to the record here do not align with actual pages in the record supporting its claims. To the extent J&T Marketing’s citations refer to portions of its original *Memorandum in Opposition to Defendants Jonathan L. Lowry and Nathan Kinsella’s Motion for Summary Judgment* that rely on the bankruptcy declaration of Mr. Neubauer, the citations provide no support since the trial court struck Mr. Neubauer’s deposition in its entirety. [R. 1695.] J&T Marketing has not appealed the trial court’s decision on that issue.

presented no evidence that these disbursements represented improper siphoning of the corporation's funds or that the corporation's funds were co-mingled with those of these shareholders. Mr. Neubauer testified that he, as the CFO of FDS and Esbex.com accounted for the money withdrawn by Lowry and Kinsella as instructed. [R. 1641, Neubauer Dep. 40:8-14.] It would be hard to find a successful corporation that did not provide funds to its shareholders. In addition, Mr. Neubauer testified that Lowry and Kinsella instructed him to "find a way to free up expenses and free up cash flow" to provide refund checks to customers. [R. 1644; Neubauer Dep. 25:7-23.]

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